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FRONT COVER: End of the line of Canada’s longest interurban railway! The first interurban train of the day from Vancouver has just
arrived from its 76 mile run and now sits on the Chilliwack depot’s magnificent double loop at 11:55 AM on a summer’s day in 1949.
Baggage-express car 1706, one of a set of 4 1912 Niles cars, 1706-1709, leads the way. Car 1305, a B.C. Electric product of 1911 is
trailing with it trolley wheel to the wire. Robert W. Gibson, Collection Electric Railway Historical Society.

BELOW: Built in 1912 by B. C. Electric, car 255 loops through downtown Victoria on its way to traversing the scenic 5 — Gorge route in
July, 1946. This line was one of two lines abandoned on Victoria’s first ‘Rails to Rubber’ day, June 30, 1947. Henry Ewert collection.

PAGE COUVERTURE : Fin de la plus longue ligne de chemin de fer interurbain du Canada! Le premier train interurbain de la journée en
provenance de Vancouver termine un parcours de 122 km. Il est en attente a la superbe double boucle du dépbt de Chilliwack en cette
Jjournée d’été de 1949. ll est 11 h 55. Au premier plan, on voit le fourgon a bagages express no 1706, I'un des quatre construits par Niles
Carsen 1912. Alarriere-plan, on apercoit la voiture no 1305, construite par le BCER en 1911, avec la perche en position sur le fil aérien.
Robert W. Gibson, collection de I'Electric Railway Historical Society.

Ci-DESSOUS : Le tramway de la BCER no 255 termine son circuit au centre-ville de Victoria avant de parcourir la ligne panoramique no 5-
Gorge enjuillet 1946. Cette ligne est'une des deux qui furentabandonnées a Victoria le 30 juin 1947. Collection Henry Ewert.
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British Columbia Electric Railway Company Limited

By Henry Ewert

Henry Ewert grew up in Vancouver just two blocks from B. C. Electric’s formidable, fabulous, double-decked
Mt. Pleasant streetcar barn, a venue which fascinated and drew him from his earliest years. Even though he became a
teacher, a degreed pianist, a soccer player and coach, and a lecturer on opera, it was the lure and romance of streetcars
and interurbans which never relented. He has written four books on the B. C. Electric, beginning with his first “The
Story of the B. C. Electric Company Limited”, commissioned for Vancouver’s EXPO 86, with yet a fifth currently in

preparation.

Naturally, the arrival on May 23, 1887 in
Vancouver of Canadian Pacific Railway’s first
passenger train, from Montreal, propelled British
Columbia’s three little southwest coast cities into
a frenzy of projects and progress. Everything now
seemed possible. Victoria’s National Electric
Tramway and Lighting Company Limited
instituted its streetcar service on February 22,
1890; it was the third city in Canada with
streetcars (after Windsor and St. Catharines,
Ontario). In Vancouver, streetcars began regular
service on June 27, 1890 under the aegis of the
Vancouver Electric Railway and Light Company
Limited, and on October 8, 1891, the Westminster
and Vancouver Tramway Company got its
streetcars going in New Westminster, as well as its
fourteen-mile-long interurban line between New
Westminster and Vancouver, Canada’s longest
interurban line at the time.
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Along Victoria’s Government Street on June 8, 1940, Birney car 400, one
of a set of ten built in 1922, services the No. 2 Cloverdale — Outer Wharf
line. Street car service in Victoria was inaugurated in 1890 and would
end on July 5, 1948. Fortunately car 400 has survived and is currently in
Nelson B.C. CRHA Archives, Fonds Corley.

Le 8 juin 1940, rue Government a Victoria, le Birney no 400, 'un des 10
construits en 1922,
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Archives ACHF, Fonds
Corley.
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Map of the British Columbia Electric Railway interurban lines, the company also operated city
streetcar service in Vancouver, North Vancouver, Victoria and New Westminster. On a Streak of
Lightning — Electric Railways in Canada by J. Edward Martin, Studio E —now out of print.

Carte du réseau des lignes interurbaines du British Columbia Electric Railways. La compagnie a
géré aussi le service de tramways a Vancouver, Vancouver-Nord, Victoria et New Westminster. Ona
Streak of Lightning-Electric Railways in Canada par J. Edward Martin, Studio E (édition épuisée).
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But as excitement gathered, a worldwide
depression wreaked havoc on rampant optimism,
throwing the three local companies into receivership,
Vancouver’s first, then New Westminster’s, and finally
Victoria’s, on June 4, 1895. The three moribund
companies were gathered together as the Consolidated
Railway and Light Company, financed by local and
English investors. Purchased by a London syndicate
headed by Robert M. Horne-Payne, the Consolidated
Company increased its capitalization to $1, 500, 000 and
changed its name to the more concise Consolidated
Railway Company.

But then tragedy struck with overwhelming
force: on May 26, 1896, Victoria streetcar number 16 was
bound for Esquimalt for festivities in honour of Queen
Victoria’s birthday with 140 passengers and a crew of two.
As it crossed badly-maintained Point Ellice Bridge, a
section of the bridge gave way, plunging 55 of car 16’s
riders to their death, in the worst electric railway disaster
ever in Canada or the United States.

Thrust into receivership, and massive
uncertainty, the new company was resuscitated by the
incorporation on April 3, 1897 in London of the British
Columbia Electric Railway Company Limited, Horne-
Payne the chairman and R. Henry Sperling the general
superintendent. With confident, vigorous headiness---
and no local capital whatsoever---the street car and
interurban systems of the three steadily-growing cities,

Vancouver especially, were undergirded for an early
twentieth century of tumultuous, unprecedented
development.

In 1903, B. C. Electric commenced building its
own streetcars, interurbans, locomotives, work
equipment, and freight cars in a shop in New
Westminster. During the shop’s eleven years of existence,
192 streetcars and interurbans would be outshopped by
this award-winning plant. (B. C. Electric would ultimately
operate 457 streetcars and 84 interurbans.) B. C. Electric
was operating 69 streetcars in 1904, and that year would
see it transporting 8,869,486 passengers on its complete
three-cities system and one interurban line. Freight was
beginning to be a factor, with 6,065 tons hauled during the
year.

Havingleased C. P. R’s three-year-old Vancouver
and Lulu Island Railway, B. C. Electric electrified it and
began interurban and freight service in 1905 over its
fifteen-mile Vancouver-to-Steveston distance, and in the
following year, the company added a fourth city to its
roster with the inauguration of streetcar service in North
Vancouver.

A third interurban line was built in 1909, by C. P.
R’s V. & L. I. Ry., between Marpole, the mid-point of the
Steveston line, and New Westminster, ten miles distant,
forimmediate lease and electrification by B. C. Electric.

October 4, 1910 brought the company an
unsurpassed day of triumph, the beginning of regularly-
scheduled passenger

Peter Cox caught sweeper S.58 in Victoria in September 1947. Somehow we think this shot was
arranged, sweepers don't have their trolleys up in September! The S.58 was built by Ottawa Car

in 1913 and was assigned to the Victoria division. Peter Cox.

Peter Cox a pris ce cliché du balai chasse-neige S.58 a Victoria en septembre 1947.
Evidemment on a installé la perche sur le fil aérien pour le besoin de la photo (pas de neige enen
cette période de l'année). Le S.58 fut construit par I'Ottawa Car en 1913 et assigné a la Division

Victoria. Peter Cox.

service, and booming
freight traffic, on its new,
$3, 500, 000, 64-mile line
from New Westminster to
Chilliwack, an eastward
thrust, but nudging the U.

S. Border, which finally
opened the southern side
of the lower Fraser Valley
to settlement and
sophisticated
communications, and
brought electricity.
Passenger interurban
trains would operate
between Vancouver and
Chilliwack for the next four
decades, three trains each
way daily, plus market
specials, milk trains, and
the like, a distance of
slightly more than 76 miles,
the longest interurban run
ever in Canada.

Less than a year
later, the company opened
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a much-needed new interurban depot in New Since freight had become a pressing reality on
Westminster, and in 1912 a splendid B. C. Electric head the interurban lines, B. C. Electric constructed the 16th
offices structure and interurban terminal in Vancouver, Street freight yard in New Westminster containing 8, 488
both city’s buildings still in existence today in other uses. feet of track in 1913. In the same year, the company
During these two years, B. C. Electric’s fifth, sixth, and opened its eighth interurban line, 23 miles in length, from
seventh interurban lines were inaugurated, the ten-mile Victoria north through the Saanich peninsula to Deep
Burnaby Lake line, joining Vancouver and New Bay. During 1913, B. C. Electric’s street cars and
Westminster street carlines via central Burnaby, in 1911, interurbans carried 69, 639, 764 riders and its locomotives
and in 1912, centered on New Westminster’s new depot, hauled 448, 750 tons of freight.

the two-mile Fraser Mills line and the similar-length

Queensborough line.

Over the years the BCER counted 27 electric
locomotives on its roster including 7
Baldwin-Westinghouse built units. Here we see
B-W 972 at New Westminster in September 1953.
CRHA Archives, Fonds Corley.

Pendant son existence, le BCER a possédé un
parc de 27 locomotives électriques, dont 7
engins Baldwin-Westinghouse. Nous voyons ici
la B-W 972 a New Westminster en septembre
1953. Archives ACHF, Fonds Corley.

Built by Canadian Car and Foundry in 1925 and 1926, cars
700-719, ten two-car, multiple unit streetcar sets caused a
sensation when they hit Vancouver’s streets. In this July
1926 Canadian Car & Foundry view you can see why
Vancouverites were indeed impressed with their new
streetcars! CRHA Archives, Fonds Canadian Car &
Foundry.

Les 10 tramways en tandem, construits par la Canadian Car
and Foundry entre 1925 et 1926, firent sensation dans les
rues de Vancouver. Photo prise a la CC&F en juillet 1926.
Archives ACHF, Fonds Canadian Car & Foundiry.

Motor car 714 probably with trailer 715 operates
in this mid 1940’s view southbound on Main
Street, about to cross the Great Northern’s
original main line into Vancouver. The No. 7 -
Fraser line would cease operations in 1948,
replaced by Vancouver’s first trolley coach line
on August 16. CRHA Archives, Fonds Corley.

Le tramway 714 avec probablement la remorque
715, au milieu des années 1940, en direction sud
rue Main, se prépare a traverser la voie du Great
Northern a Vancouver. La ligne no 7 Fraser a
cessé ses opérations en 1948 et fut remplacée
par la premiére ligne de trolleybus le 16 aodt de la
méme année. Archives ACHF, Fonds Corley.
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Having purchased the Western Power Company
of Canada Limited, B. C. Electric electrified its seven-
mile railway between Ruskin, on the C. P. R.’s main line,
and Stave Falls to the north and offered rudimentary
interurban service from 1922 until its abandonment in
1944. Three other hydro development railway lines, but
not electrified and freight only, were built and operated
by B. C. Electric: the six-mile Jordan River line, 1910 to
1971; the nine-mile Coquitlam Lake line, 1914 to 1931;
and the four-mile Alouette Branch railway, 1924 to 1931.

By the end of 1923, Vancouver’s streetcar route
miles count stood at 62, with two short segments to be
added in 1927 and 1928, and three loops to be
inaugurated in 1929, 1949 and 1950. New Westminster’s
system was complete with 15 route miles, North
Vancouver’swith 10, and Victoria’swith 31.

During 1923, B. C. Electric’s first city bus service
began with Vancouver’s Grandview Highway line on
March 19, and the company’s first intercity bus service,
obviously between Vancouver and New Westminster,
commenced on May 1, 1924, operated by a B. C. Electric
subsidiary, B. C. Rapid Transit. And then---the company’s
most recently inaugurated interurban line, the Saanich,
was abandoned, on November 1, 1924, for want of

adequate patronage. In 1926, Vancouver-to-Chilliwack
bus service was instituted by B. C. Electric’s subsidiary,
and the company’s first major streetcar line shutdown,
Georgia East, occurred.

When B. C. Electric placed two new bus lines
into operation in Vancouver on October 6, 1930,
MacDonald and Granville Street South, the company
thereby made it abundantly clear that the building of
streetcar lines was in the past. Here were two lines that
were logical candidates for streetcar operation: they were
relatively lengthy, they did not jut into new areas, and they
made streetcar connections at either end of their
Vancouver services.

Nonetheless, beginning in 1937, the company
would over the following nine years completely rebuild
150 of its streetcars: exteriors were modernized, often
radically, and interiors were thoroughly refurbished, even
including leather-covered foam seats. And more
modernization would come with the placing in service of
B. C. Electric’s PCC streetcar number 400 in 1939, the
first of 36, numbered 400 to 435, all assigned to
Vancouver.

The building of a new bridge across the Fraser

Riverin 1937 at New

Streetcars of North Vancouver’s three lines, 1 — Lonsdale, 2 — Lynn Valley, and 3 — Capilano, wait at the
foot of Lonsdale Avenue, on the very shore of Burrard Inlet, as ferry passengers from Vancouver stride
to their streetcars on a late afternoon in July 1946. The criss-cross on the face of 150 denotes a one
man car. Significantly, car 153 to the right is one of only three B.C. Electric streetcars still in existence.
Vic Sharman, Henry Ewert collection.

Des tramways des trois lignes de Vancouver-Nord, 1-Lonsdale, 2-Lynn Valley et 3-Capilano, avenue
Lonsdale prés de la rive de I'anse Burrad, attendent des passagers en provenance du traversier en
cette fin d’apres-midi de juillet 1946. La croix devant le no 150 indique un tramway a un seul homme.
Le tramway no 153 a droite est le seul de la BCER encore existant. Vic Sharman, collection Henry

Ewert.

Westminster with its
invasive exits and
approaches in the
city, brought an end
to interurban
services of the Fraser
Mills and
Queensborough
lines, and an end to
interurban
operation into New
Westminster’s depot
by the Burnaby Lake
line, whose terminus
was cut back 2.4
miles to Sapperton.
The Queensborough
line survives, re-
worked, as a busy
freight operation.
New Westminster’s
last streetcar line
would cease
operating on
December 5, 1938.
B. C. Electric after
these shutdowns was
operating 167.56
track miles of street
car lines and 168.97
of interurban lines.
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A Vancouver-bound interurban train from
Chilliwack waits momentarily at the three-track
through depot in New Westminster in 1940. One
of three B.C. Electric combines, car 1400 was
built by American Car Company, coupled car
1301by Ottawa Car Company, both in 1910,
expressly for Chilliwack line operation. Henry
Ewert collection.

Un train interurbain en provenance de Chilliwack
et en direction de Vancouver attend au dépét a
trois voies de Westminsteren 1940. L’un des trois
véhicules combinés du BCER, le no 1400,
construit spécialement pour la ligne Chilliwack
par I'’American Car Company en 1910, est attelé
au no 1301 construit par la Ottawa Car Company
égalementen 1910. Collection Henry Ewert.

Two interurban cars built for the
Chilliwack line are seen here in
operation in 1946 on the Central
Park line, on Commercial Drive
at Broadway, New Westminster-
bound. The first 3.6 miles out
from the Vancouver BCER
terminal were street-run before
taking to the private right-of-way.
Car 1305 was built by B.C.
Electric in 1911, and car 1306
was one of three (1306-1308)
especially handsome G. C.
Kuhlman products also 1911.
Henry Ewert collection.

Deux véhicules interurbains construits pour la ligne de Chilliwack en service sur la ligne Central Park, rue Commercial Drive a
'intersection de Broadway et en direction de Westminster, en 1946. La voie ferrée partageait la rue sur les premiers 5,8 km a partir
duterminus du BCER avant de poursuivre sur une emprise privée. La voiture no 1305 fut construite en 1911 par la BCER tandis que
la no 1306 fut I'une des trois voitures (1306-1308) spécialement construites par G. C. Kuhlman également en 1911. Collection

Henry Ewert.

As World War II was slowly coming to an end, B.
C. Electric announced , on September 30, 1944, its ‘Rails-
to-Rubber’ programme, a multi-million-dollar plan for
the elimination of most of its rail passenger services,
though there were indications in it that streetcars on main
arteries would survive, the older streetcars to be replaced
by the extraordinary PCC’s. In 1944, B. C. Electric was
operating 327.41 track miles, Montreal Tramways 279.34,
and the Toronto Transportation Commission 266.88. Its
398 streetcars, of which 133 were one man vehicles, were
distributed in the following manner: 11 in North
Vancouver, 346 in Vancouver, and 41 in Victoria,
including 10 Birneys. Seventy-three interurbans were
kept busy on the company’s interurban lines.

“Rails-to-Rubber’ struck North Vancouver first,
with its last streetcar in regular service on April 24, 1947.
The programme began in Vancouver six days later as two

major streetcar lines ended service. In the early morning
of July 4, 1948, operations ceased on the last of Victoria’s
streetcar lines. However, electric transit of a different
kind was instituted by B. C. Electric on August 16, 1948
with its first trolley coach line, Vancouver’s ‘Fraser-
Cambie.’

By January 1950, 24.35 route miles of
Vancouver’s streetcar operations had been abandoned
and only eight streetcar lines remained. On B. C.
Electric’s complete system, 225 streetcars, 73 interurbans,
168 trolley coaches, and 381 city and 105 intercity busses
were in daily operation. During 1950, B. C. Electric’s
streetcars, interurbans, trolley coaches, and busses
transported 148, 746, 411 riders, and its locomotives
hauled 952, 784 tons of freight, connecting with the C. N.
R., C. P. R., Great Northern, Milwaukee Road, and
Northern Pacific.
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